1994

Melvin Laws v. Blanding City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2-2(3)(j) (as amended 1953).

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3 (as amended 1953).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

- A. Did the trial court err in excluding the testimony of Plaintiff's expert witness?

This is a case management decision, and is therefore under an abuse of discretion standard. Berrett v. Denver and Rio Grande Western R.R. Co., 830 P.2d 291, 184 Utah Adv. Rep. 49 (Ct.App.1992). Dugan v. Jones, 615 P.2d 1239 (Utah 1980).

- B. Did the trial court correctly state the law concerning negligence in instructing the jury?

Challenges to jury instructions are reviewed on a "correctness" standard. Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corp., 862 P.2d 1342 (1993).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND RULES

The determinative statutes and rules whose interpretation is pertinent to this appeal are as follows:

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 30 (1994). See appendix 1 attached.

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 16 (1994). See appendix 2 attached.

Utah Code Annotated §78-27-38 (1994). See appendix 3 attached.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a civil case, which was commenced in March of 1991 to recover damages sustained by Plaintiff Melvin Laws, who was injured in a fall from a dumping platform at the Blanding City Dump. Plaintiff alleges that the injuries were caused by the negligence of Blanding City in the construction and maintenance of the dump, and the lack of safety equipment. (Rec. at 1-7). A jury demand was filed in November, 1994. (R. at 10).

In January of 1994, one month prior to trial, Defendant filed a motion to strike Plaintiff's expert witness. (R. at 364-65). The motion was granted. (R. at 413-16). Plaintiff filed a motion for a new trial which was denied. (R. at 453-54).

The case was tried to a jury in February 1994. Exception was taken by Plaintiff with the trial court's list of jury instructions. (Trial Transcript[Tr.] at 230-31). The trial court overruled Plaintiff's objection. (Tr. at 231). The jury returned a verdict in favor of Defendant, finding no negligence on the part of Defendant. (Tr. at 269-73).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Plaintiff Melvin Laws lives at 1050 N. 850 W. in Blanding, Utah. (Tr. at 11).

2. On April 28, 1990, Plaintiff went to the Blanding City Dump to dispose of garbage. (Tr. at 14-15).

3. While at the dump, Plaintiff fell down a 30-40 foot precipice into the dump. (Tr. at 21).

4. On the day of the accident, strong winds whipped through the canyon, and smoke from several small fires in the dump clouded the sky. (Tr. at 132-33).

5. The dump had recently been bulldozed by the Defendant, creating a 30-40 foot precipice. (Tr. at 141-42).

6. A city ordinance requires city residents to subscribe to a garbage retrieval service. (Tr. at 151-152).

7. The city of Blanding does not provide garbage retrieval for citizens living within the county but outside city limits. (Tr. at 151-152).

8. A special arrangement must be made with a private contractor for a resident outside city limits to receive garbage retrieval service. (Tr. at 152).

9. Without a special arrangement, the only location provided for citizens, who live outside city limits, to dispose of garbage is the dump where the injury occurred. (Tr. at 151-152).

10. Blanding citizens are not allowed to dispose of garbage at any other location. (Tr. at 151-152).

11. Blanding citizens are not allowed to leave the garbage along the edge of the precipice, but are required to throw the garbage over the edge. (Tr. at 137).

12. A wall, 10-18" in height, separates a person and the edge of the cliff over which the garbage is thrown. (Tr. at 21, 151).

13. Before the date of Plaintiff's injury, Defendant was aware that others have been injured at the dump. (Tr. at 139).

14. Plaintiff filed a complaint against Blanding City in 1991.

15. On June 14, 1993, the trial court entered a scheduling order establishing a deadline for the designation of expert witnesses on August 15, 1993, as well as a deadline for the filing of discovery of October 3, 1993. (R. at 288-89).

16. This Court subsequently modified its scheduling order by extending the witness designation date to September 30, 1993, and the discovery cutoff to December 10, 1993. (R. at 358-59).

17. On or about September 30, 1993, Plaintiff filed his designation of witnesses in compliance with the court's scheduling order. (R. at 302-04).

18. Witness #14 on Plaintiff's list of witnesses designates "Eckoff, Proctor & Watson", an engineering firm in Salt Lake County, Utah. (R. at 302-04).

19. Due to a clerical error, the correct name of Eckoff, Proctor & Watson is Eckhoff, Watson & Preator.

20. Defendant was informed of the name of the individual who would testify for Eckhoff, Watson & Preator during the last week of November. (R. at 465).

21. In a letter dated December 6, 1993, Plaintiff affirmed Mr. Thorpe's cooperation. (R. at 413-14).

22. Plaintiff told Defendant that Mr. Thorpe still had to review materials and therefore had not yet formed an opinion. (R. at 414).

23. Plaintiff informed Defendant that he could depose the expert at any time, regardless of the discovery deadline. (R. at 465).

24. Defendant finally filed a motion in limine with the court on January 7, 1994, requesting exclusion of the witness. (R. at 364).

25. The trial court granted the motion excluding the witness on February 2, 1994. (R. at 413-16).

26. The trial court's grounds for excluding the witness were that the Plaintiff did not properly designate his expert witness until he provide the name of the individual. (R. at 414).

27. Plaintiff's expert testimony would have established the safety precautions that should have been instituted at the dump and would have evaluated the design, construction, and maintenance of the dump under the circumstances of this case. (R. at 361).

28. Prior to trial, both Defendant and Plaintiff filed with the trial court requested jury instructions. (R. at 423-24, 432-52).

29. The court determined the jury instructions to be used for trial. (R. at 504-32).

30. Plaintiff objected to instruction #17 prior to submitting them to the jury on the grounds that they were not indicative of the law. (Tr. at 230).

31. Plaintiff proposed that instructions #17-19 from Plaintiff's requested jury instructions be used. (Tr. at 230).

32. The court overruled Plaintiff's objection. (Tr. at 231).

33. Instruction #17 as given to the jury, confused the jury as to apportioning fault. (Tr. at 269-70).

34. The jury wanted to apportion fault to both parties, however the instruction did not allow it. (Tr. at 269-73).

35. The jury found that Defendant was 0% negligent. (Tr. at 273).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

A scheduling order required the parties to exchange witness lists on September 30, 1993. (R. at 358). The trial court sanctioned Plaintiff on the grounds that he failed to comply with this order. (R. at 413). The trial court excluded Plaintiff's expert witness. (R. at 413-15). Contrary to the court's ruling, Plaintiff's designation of witness #14 was not in violation of the scheduling order of the court, nor did it prejudice the Defendant in the preparation of his case.

Plaintiff designated Eckhoff, Watson & Preator as witness #14 on Plaintiff's list of witnesses. (R. at 302). This designation complied with the trial court's order. (R. at 358-59).

Rule 30(a)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows a party to notice the deposition of a corporation without the name of the specific individual. When the name is unknown, it is sufficient to provide a brief description of the matter on which deposition is sought. The Corporation or organization must designate a person to testify at deposition. The selected individual must formulate an opinion as of the date of the deposition. If an expert is not noticed for deposition, he is unconstrained from forming or changing his opinion up to the time of trial.

Eckhoff, Watson & Preator had not yet designated its expert as of September 30, 1993. (R. at 465). Still, it should be remembered that the Defendant could have deposed the witness at any time after September 30, 1993, as provided in Rule 30 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Defendant chose not to. Instead, Defendant waited until January 1994, when he filed a Motion in Limine to exclude the witness.

The trial court did not expressly require that the name of the individual be designated. The order only required a list of witnesses, obviously, to enable each party to depose the witnesses in preparation for trial. Plaintiff did not violate the order.

Plaintiff's designation of witness #14 did not prejudice Defendant in the preparation of its case. Defendant could have noticed the firm's deposition at any time. (R. at 465). Plaintiff informed Defendant on November 23, 1993, that Gregory Thorpe would be the representative of the firm at the time of trial. (R. at 465). This was not a designation of a new witness. Plaintiff merely identified the individual who would speak on behalf of Eckhoff, Watson & Preator. Defendant was always aware that the expert witness would be provided by Eckhoff, Watson & Preator. Defendant therefore, was not prevented from preparing its case.

Witness exclusion should only be used to sanction a party for willful noncompliance with a court order. Other methods are available when witness exclusion is not warranted.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff did not willfully disregard the court's scheduling order. Plaintiff simply did not understand the court's unexpressed expectations. Inasmuch as the Plaintiff did not violate any court order compelling him to provide the name of the expert, and inasmuch as the Defendant could have discovered the name at any time by noticing the deposition of Eckhoff, Watson & Preator, it was an abuse of discretion for the court to exclude Plaintiff's expert testimony.

Assuming, arguendo, that Plaintiff did violate the order, the court could have issued other sanctions. A motion to compel, on the court's own initiative, or on motion by Defendant, would have sufficiently notified Plaintiff of his error. Plaintiff

could then have complied with the court's expectations before it was excessively late in the discovery process. An order to exclude the witness, would not have been necessary.

Assuming, arguendo, that Plaintiff violated the scheduling order, Defendant failed to timely object. Following Defendant's receipt of Plaintiff's witness list, Defendant should have moved to compel the Plaintiff. Defendant did not. Instead, Defendant told Plaintiff to apprise Defendant as soon as possible of the designated representative of the firm. (R. at 413). Plaintiff advised Defendant of Mr. Thorpe at the end of November. (R. at 465). Defendant still did not object. Instead Defendant waited until January to file a motion to exclude the witness. Assuming, arguendo, Defendant had a right to object, Defendant was untimely and therefore should be held to have waived its right.

Plaintiff's case was sufficiently prejudiced by the court's exclusion of his expert witness. The expert testimony went directly to the issues on which the jury would base its decision. The expert would testify regarding design, construction, maintenance, and safety measures. (R. at 361). These are all important factors in determining whether Defendant had a duty and breached it. The court's exclusion, therefore, deprived Plaintiff of his right to present his entire case to a jury.

ISSUE 2

Jury instructions must instruct the jury as to the law of the jurisdiction and be appropriate given the facts of the case.

Instruction #17, (See Appendix 4) in the case at bar, failed to correctly instruct the jury as to the appropriate law of the jurisdiction given the facts of the case.

Instruction #17 reads as follows:

the defendant is negligent if, but only if, he (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

(Tr. at 238-39).

The instruction is based partly on the Restatement Second of Torts, §343 as it was applied in English v. Kienke, 848 P.2d 153 (Utah 1993). The direct application of the undisputed facts, as they appeared in English, to Section 343, as it is written, was appropriate only because the case was decided on summary judgment. A direct application, as done in English, is inappropriate as an instruction to a jury which has the duty to weigh the evidence and apply principles of comparative negligence to the facts.

Instruction #17 substituted principles of comparative negligence with principles of contributory negligence. Instruction #17 calls for the harsh result of total victory or complete defeat. Such an outcome is characteristic of a contributory negligence system, which this state has abolished when it adopted comparative negligence.

Instruction #17 applies the open and obvious danger rule, which this state has also abolished. The rule requires the jury

to reach an all or nothing conclusion, as in a contributory negligence system. First, if the danger was open and obvious and Plaintiff unreasonably encountered it, Defendant is not at fault. Second, if the danger was not open and obvious and Plaintiff encountered it, Defendant is entirely at fault.

Comment (a) of the Reporter's Notes to Section 343 of the Restatement Second of Torts states:

this section should be read together with §343A, which deals with the effect of the fact that the condition is known to the invitee, or is obvious to him, as well as the fact that the invitee is a patron of a public utility.

Assuming, arguendo, that instruction #17 was correct, the court should have also given an instruction similar to Section 343A which would clarify the intent of the open and obvious nature of the dump. Section 343A also clarifies the duty which a landowner, that is a government agency, has to an invitee.

The misleading effect of Instruction #17 is clearly shown in the record. To the court, the jury expressed its desire to apportion fault to both parties and award damages to plaintiff but was confused at how to do that given the instructions it had. The judge instructed them to look to the instructions and special verdict form for an answer. However, the instructions and special verdict form did not allow the jury to act as they desired.

Any case dealing with injury to visitors upon land must be based upon principles of premises liability. In the state of Utah, the injured visitor is classified as either an Invitee, Licensee, or Trespasser. In the case at bar, the Plaintiff is

properly classified as an invitee. The duty that a landowner owes to an invitee is the duty to discover unreasonably dangerous conditions and remedy them or warn the visitor of them. This applies to landowners who have reason to believe that the invitee will proceed to encounter a danger despite the danger's obvious nature. Instruction #17 did not properly instruct the jury regarding the foregoing principles.

The instruction regarding Defendant's duty should have contained two elements. First, whether the defendant knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, that a dangerous condition existed. Second, whether sufficient time elapsed thereafter that action could have been taken to correct the situation. A separate instruction should have addressed plaintiff's contributory negligence.

The instruction given to a jury in a premises liability case should allow the jury to properly apply principles of comparative negligence. The Plaintiff has a right to have his fault compared to the fault attributable to Defendant. Plaintiff's requested instructions properly allowed the jury to perform its responsibility.

The use of instruction #17, in the case at bar, substantially prejudiced the Plaintiff's case by taking from the Plaintiff the right to have his fault compared to the fault attributable to the Defendant. The instruction caused the jury to revert back to principles of contributory negligence finding that if the Plaintiff was also negligent, recovery is barred.

The instruction sufficiently misled the jury as to the appropriate law applicable to premises liability. Had the proper instruction been given, a fair comparison of fault would have been made to make a proper determination of liability. Plaintiff would have recovered.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT WITNESS WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION THAT PREJUDICED THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE.

The trial court abused its discretion when it excluded Plaintiff's expert witness from testifying at trial. The court's exclusion prejudiced Plaintiff's case. The expert testimony would have went directly to the issues on which the jury would base its decision.

A. PLAINTIFF'S DESIGNATION OF ECKOF, PROCTOR & WATSON AS ITS EXPERT WITNESS IS A PROPER DESIGNATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TRIAL COURT'S SCHEDULING ORDER.

In the case at bar, a scheduling order required Plaintiff to provide a witness list by September 30, 1993. (R. at 358). Plaintiff complied with the court's order. (R. at 302-04).

Witness #14 on Plaintiff's Witness list was "Eckof, Proctor & Watson," an engineering firm in Salt Lake City. (R. at 302). This engineering firm would provide Plaintiff's expert witness at trial. Due to a clerical error the correct name of the

engineering firm is Eckhoff, Watson & Preator. Plaintiff made the error known to Defendant as soon as it was discovered.

The court excluded Plaintiff's expert witness. The grounds for excluding the witness was that "Plaintiff did not properly designate his expert witness until he provided the name of an individual." (R. at 414). The court's reasoning for this was that: "it is unreasonable to expect a party to examine every member of a firm in order to make sure that the eventual witness has been deposed." (R. at 415).

Rule 30 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "after the commencement of the action, any party may take the testimony of any person, including a party, by deposition upon oral examination." The rule requires that:

a party desiring to take the deposition of any person upon oral examination shall give reasonable notice in writing to every other party to the action. The notice shall state the time and place for taking the deposition and the name and address of each person to be examined, if known, and if the name is not known, a general description sufficient to identify him or the particular class or group to which he belongs.

U.R.C.P. 30(b)(1) (1994).

In a notice of deposition, when the name of the witness is unknown, it is sufficient to give a description that will identify the witness or the particular class or group to which the witness would belong.

When dealing with the deposition of an organization or corporation, it is sufficient to simply name the organization and describe with reasonable particularity the matter on which

examination is requested. Subsection (6) of Rule 30(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that:

a party may in his notice and subpoena name as the deponent a public or private corporation, a partnership, an association, or a governmental agency and describe with reasonable particularity the matters on which examination is requested. In that event, the organization so named shall designate one or more officers, directors, managing agents, or other persons who consent to testify on its behalf and may set forth, for each person designated, the matters on which he will testify. A subpoena shall advise a nonparty organization of its duty to make such a designation. The persons so designated shall testify as to matters known or reasonably available to the organization.

To notice the deposition of an organization it is therefore, not necessary that the name of the individual who will represent the organization at the time of deposition be known. When the organization is a nonparty, a subpoena shall advise it of its duty to make a designation of the individual who will testify on its behalf.

The extension of this rule then, as it applies to the designation of witnesses who are corporations or organizations, is that a good faith, proper designation of a prospective witness to opposing counsel must provide the name of the corporation or, if known, the name of the person assigned to represent the firm. Obviously, if the person to represent the firm is not yet designated, it is the firm's responsibility to appoint an individual prior to the date of deposition. The fact that the individual selected to testify is not designated does not relieve Defendant from the obligation of noticing the deposition of Eckhoff, Watson & Preator.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff properly designated Witness #14 as Eckhoff, Watson & Preator. (R. at 302). The individual who would testify for the firm was not yet designated, and therefore not named specifically. The defendant was not prejudiced by the lack of the specific name of the individual because Rule 30 permits the Defendant to:

name as the deponent a public or private corporation, a partnership, an association, or a governmental agency and describe with reasonable particularity the matters on which examination is requested.

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