1994

Melvin Laws v. Blanding City : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

A trial court has necessary discretion in managing cases by pretrial scheduling and management conferences. Utah R. Civ. P. 16. A requirement that parties designate their expert witnesses by a certain date before trial allows the parties to prepare for trial by deposing witnesses, planning for effective cross-examination, and obtaining rebuttal testimony. See *Turner v. Nelson*, 872 P.2d 1021, 1023-24 (Utah 1994); Utah R. Civ. P. 16(b); see also *Hardy v. Hardy*, 776 P.2d 917, 925 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

DeBry at 21. Noting that the plaintiffs had submitted their witness designations after the date ordered and after the discovery cutoff date, the Supreme Court held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in excluding the four expert witnesses. *Id.*

In the present case, despite repeated requests to do so, plaintiff failed to designate an individual as his expert witness until well after the designation date and, effectively, after the discovery cutoff date. Plaintiff also failed to prepare his expert to testify. Defendant had no real means of properly deposing the expert without violating the court's scheduling order.

Attempting to shift responsibility to the defendant, plaintiff argues, without authority, that, "The fact that the individual selected to testify is not designated does not relieve Defendant from the obligation of noticing the deposition of

Eckhoff, Watson & Preator." Brief of Appellant p. 15. In its ruling on defendant's motion, the trial court addressed this issue, noting that "It is unreasonable to expect a party to examine every member of a firm in order to make sure that the eventual witness has been deposed." R. 414-15, Appendix 5. This is consistent with the Supreme Court's observation in *DeBry* that the purpose of the scheduling order is to prevent defendant from incurring the expense involved in this type of examination. Assuming, as plaintiff argues, that defendant was put on notice by his designation of an engineering firm as expert witness, the holding in *DeBry* would justify exclusion of the individual witness who was untimely designated.

The trial court's second basis for excluding the expert testimony is also supported by the Supreme Court's *DeBry* holding. As noted by the trial court and stated by plaintiff, plaintiff's designated expert was not prepared to offer an opinion in the case.^{3/} The untimely designation of the expert witness, combined with the fact that the witness was not prepared to offer deposition testimony, effectively prevented defendant from preparing "for trial by deposing witnesses, planning for effective cross-examination, and obtaining rebuttal testimony."

Plaintiff argues that he proposed to defendant that the expert be deposed at any time despite the discovery cutoff order.

^{3/} We may infer from the circumstances that if the individual at the designated engineering firm had not yet evaluated plaintiff's case, then no one there had; *i.e.*, that no one at the designated firm was prepared to testify or be deposed.

Brief of Appellant, p. 5 ¶ 23, citing R. 465. This simply reflects plaintiff's attitude toward court scheduling orders in general. Attitude issues aside, parties may not stipulate to set aside a court-ordered deadline without a subsequent court order, especially where the stipulation interferes with the court's control of its own calendar. *Charlie Brown* at 1371.

Given that (1) the expert was not timely designated and (2) when designated, the expert was not prepared to participate in pretrial discovery before the cutoff date, the trial court's exclusion of that expert's testimony was clearly not an abuse of discretion.

POINT IV

EXCLUSION OF THE EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY IN THIS CASE WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

Even if this Court were to find the trial court's exclusion of expert witness testimony to be an abuse of discretion, plaintiff has made no showing that exclusion of that testimony was prejudicial to plaintiff's case. The simple fact that the jury decided against plaintiff does not indicate prejudice.

As noted by the trial court,

It is not essential to the plaintiff's case that he have an expert on the design, construction, maintenance and operation of dumps. Dumps are something within the ken of ordinary citizens. Though expert testimony may be helpful, the Court expects that the members of the jury will be able to determine whether defendant negligently operated the dump without the assistance of an expert.

R. 415, Appendix 5. Where other witnesses are able to testify as to the facts and circumstances surrounding alleged negligence,

exclusion of expert testimony is not prejudicial. *Shurtleff v. Jay Tuft & Co.*, 622 P2d 1168, 1173 (Utah 1980). In this case, plaintiff has not demonstrated that exclusion of his expert's testimony worked to his prejudice.

On the other hand, allowing plaintiff's expert to testify would clearly have prejudiced defendant's case. Plaintiff argues, without supporting authority, that defendant's case was not prejudiced by his failure to designate the expert witness. The Utah Supreme Court in *Debry*, however, has taken the opposite position. Noting that the trial court found that permitting the experts to testify despite the failure to designate would work prejudicially against defendants, the Supreme Court stated, "For the trial court to have ignored the deadline would have compounded that abuse for which the [plaintiffs] were in no small measure responsible." *DeBry* at 21.

Plaintiff has failed to provide evidence in support of his claim of prejudice, making any error in excluding the expert testimony harmless, non-reversible error.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT'S ISSUANCE OF JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 17 WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Jury Instruction No. 17 states:

Blanding City is subject to liability for physical harm caused to Melvin Laws by a dangerous condition at the Blanding City dump if, but only if, Blanding City:

(a) knew of the dangerous condition, or by the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered the dangerous condition, and should have realized that the dangerous

condition involves an unreasonable risk of harm to Melvin Laws, and

(b) should expect that Mel Laws will not discover or realize the danger, or would fail to protect himself against it, and

(c) Blanding City then failed to exercise reasonable care to protect Melvin Laws from the dangerous condition

A. JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 17 IS CONSISTENT WITH APPLICABLE CASE LAW.

Plaintiff exhibits some confusion as to how the appropriate statement of the law is determined. He states, "Jury instructions must not only instruct the jury as to the law of the jurisdiction, but the instructions given must also 'be appropriate to the fact situation of the case as revealed by the evidence." Brief of Appellant p. 29. The law is, in fact, determined by the facts. In the area of premises liability, different facts may dictate a different law. For example, the duty of a landlord in maintaining his premises with respect to a tenant is somewhat different from the duty of a possessor of land with respect to an invitee. *E.g., English v. Kienke*, 848 P2d 153 (Utah 1993).

The language of Instruction No. 17 is taken substantially verbatim from the Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 343, dealing with the duty owed by a possessor of land to an invitee, which provides:

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he

(a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and

(b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and
(c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

This section of the restatement imposes on a landowner in possession a duty to warn an invitee of two categories of hazards: "(1) those that are present on the land when the invitee enters which the possessor should expect that the invitee will not discover or realize, and (2) those that the possessor creates after the invitee's entry. . ." *English* at 156, emphasis added.

Plaintiff acknowledges that this is a correct statement of the law regarding premises liability. Brief of Appellant, p. 29. He somewhat incongruously argues that this correct statement of the law is applicable only in determining summary judgment and is improper for use in instructing the jury as to the law of premises liability and that the facts of this case justify an instruction other than this correct statement of the law. Brief of Appellant, p. 30. However, plaintiff cites no authority in support of this unusual position. Certainly the Supreme Court in *English* made no such distinction.

Lacking any authority in support of plaintiff's argument, we must conclude that § 343 of the Restatement and its near-twin Instruction No. 17 are correct statements of the law of premises liability and that issuance of Instruction No. 17 to the jury was proper.

B. IN CONJUNCTION WITH OTHER INSTRUCTIONS AND THE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM, JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 17 PROPERLY INSTRUCTS THE JURY ON THE LAW OF COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE.

Plaintiff's argument as to the appropriateness of Instruction No. 17 is somewhat disjointed and difficult to address in rebuttal. It is perhaps easier to review Utah law dealing with the issuance of jury instructions and draw conclusions from that.

In determining whether giving a jury instruction constitutes reversible error, the court must evaluate the instruction in the context of the entire set of jury instructions to decide "whether all the instructions read in harmony fairly presented to the jury in a clear and understandable way the issues of fact and applicable law." *Anderson v. Toone*, 671 P2d 170, 175 (Utah 1983). On appeal, the trial court's determination of which jury instructions to issue will be affirmed "when the jury instructions taken as a whole fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case." *Ames v. Maas*, 846 P2d 468, 471 (Utah App 1993). If a jury instruction is erroneous, that error can be cured by use of a special verdict which contains an interrogatory based upon the correct law. *Anderson* at 175. For example, in *Eskelson v. Ballhaus*, 622 P2d 798 (Utah 1980) the Utah Supreme Court held that a jury instruction, which examined alone might be erroneous, was non-prejudicial in view of other instructions issued and a special verdict which directed the jury to allocate 100 percent negligence between plaintiff and defendant if the jury found both parties to be negligent.

It appears from plaintiff's argument that his main objection to Instruction No. 17 is his belief that it forces the jury to

find in favor of the defendant and improperly instructs the jury to apply the law of contributory negligence instead of the law of comparative negligence. The entirety of the instructions issued to the jury fails to support this argument.

Plaintiff also confuses the issues of contributory and comparative negligence and the effect which Instruction No. 17 has in context of determining defendant's liability for its own negligence. The proper application of the law of comparative negligence requires four steps. First, the finder of fact must determine whether, under the appropriate law, the defendant was negligent. If that conclusion is made in the affirmative, the finder of fact must then determine whether the plaintiff was negligent. If both parties are found to be negligent, then the finder of fact must allocate to each party his share of responsibility for negligence. Finally, that allocation of negligence is used to determine who should bear what amount of the damages.

The first step of this process requires that the jury be instructed on the law controlling the decision of whether the defendant was negligent. Only after the issue of defendant's negligence has been decided is it appropriate for the jury to look at the law of comparative negligence.

Defendant acknowledges that Utah's adoption of comparative negligence supplanted principles of contributory negligence. Defendant has never argued that plaintiff's actions should entirely preclude any recovery. It is clear from the record that

the trial court was aware of and applied comparative negligence in its instructions to the jury. The central question is whether, in the entirety, the jury instructions properly instructed the jury as to the law of premises liability and the law of comparative negligence. The record indicates that they did.

Along with Instruction No. 17, which provides the jury the appropriate law regarding defendant's duty, the trial court provided other instruction on the law of negligence, including Instruction No. 20, dealing with comparative negligence:

If you find that the defendant was negligent, you must decide if the plaintiff was also negligent. If the plaintiff was negligent and the plaintiff's negligence was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's own injuries, the plaintiff's negligence must be compared to the negligence of the defendant.

A plaintiff whose negligence is less than 50 percent of the total negligence causing the plaintiff's injuries may still recover compensation, but the amount will be reduced by the percentage of the plaintiff's negligence. If the plaintiff's negligence is equal to or greater than the negligence of the defendant, then the plaintiff may recover nothing. For example, if you find the plaintiff's negligence was 30 percent of all negligence causing the injuries, then the plaintiff's recovery will be reduced by 30 percent. On the other hand, if you find the plaintiff's negligence is 50 percent or greater, then the plaintiff will recover nothing.

R. 523, Appendix 6. This is a correct statement of the law of comparative negligence; plaintiff has not argued otherwise. In addition, the jury completed a Special Verdict Form which contained interrogatories Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 6 providing for

findings of negligence on the part of plaintiff and allocating damages according to the comparative negligence of the parties.

R. 502-503

Under the law of comparative negligence, the finder of fact must first determine whether, according to applicable law, the defendant was negligent. That is the purpose of Instruction No. 17, to state the applicable premises liability law for determination of defendant's negligence. If the jury finds, under the appropriate law, that defendant was not negligent, any negligence of plaintiff becomes moot and need not be addressed. If, on the other hand, the jury finds defendant to be negligent, then the inquiry turns to whether plaintiff was also negligent and to what extent. Only then can the jury allocate damages.

Even if Instruction No. 17 were an erroneous statement of the law, that error is cured by the instruction to the jury permitting them to allocate negligence to the parties. All of the jury instructions, read together and in context, along with the options provided in the Special Verdict Form, properly instructed the jury as to the law of premises liability and the law as to comparative negligence, those two areas of law which the jury was charged to measure against the facts.

C. PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE ISSUANCE OF JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 17 WAS PREJUDICIAL TO HIS CASE.

Even if this Court were to determine that Instruction No. 17 was erroneous, it must receive evidence of prejudice which would justify reversal.

[N]ot every error in instructing a jury will result in reversal. We reverse a trial court's decision on the basis of an instruction improperly submitted to the jury only where the party challenging the propriety of the instruction "demonstrates prejudice stemming from the instructions viewed in the aggregate."

Ames at 471, citations omitted. This requires evidence that, in absence of the alleged error, "a more favorable result would have been obtained by the complaining party." *Shurtleff* at 1174, citing *Rowley v. Graven Brothers & Co., Inc.* 26 Utah 2d 448, 491 P2d 1209 (1971). Whether an erroneous jury instruction results in prejudice is determined "in light of all the instructions and circumstances of the case." *Ames* at 474.

Plaintiff spends substantial time in a circular discussion of the correctness of Instruction No. 17 and the propriety of issuing the instruction to the jury. However, no persuasive evidence is presented that, if the instruction was erroneous, any prejudice resulted to plaintiff. As discussed above, it is insufficient to rely on the jury's decision against plaintiff as evidence of prejudice. Plaintiff must present persuasive evidence leading the conclusion that "a more favorable result would have been obtained by the complaining party." *Shurtleff* at 1174. No such evidence has been presented by plaintiff.

Even if Instruction No. 17 were erroneous in context of all the instructions given, there is no prejudice resulting from the alleged error. The error is therefore harmless and does not require reversal.

CONCLUSION

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